	Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document	1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 1 of 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8		ES DISTRICT COURT TRICT OF CALIFORNIA
9 10	VICTOR MUNIZ, individually and on behalf of	ICISCO DIVISION
 11 12 13 	all others similarly situated, Plaintiff,	No. COMPLAINT CLASS ACTION
14 15	v. WELLS FARGO & COMPANY, WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., AND WELLS FARGO HOME MORGAGE	DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
16 17	Defendants.	
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25 26		
26 27		
27		
_0	No.	COMPLAINT

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 2 of 30

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2	I.	INTRODUCTION
3	II.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE
4	III.	INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT
5	IV.	PARTIES
6 7	V.	FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
8		A. Wells Fargo's Mortgage Rate Lock Fees
9		B. Wells Fargo's Widespread Practice of Wrongly Charging Fees to Borrowers
10		C. Plaintiff Muniz's Experience
11	VI.	CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
12	VII.	TOLLING OF ANY APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATION
13 14	VIII.	CAUSES OF ACTION
14		FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq
16 17		SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq
18 19		THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION Unlawful, Unfair, or Fraudulent Business Practices under the California Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200,
20		FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
21		Violations of Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. §598.0903, et seq
22		FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
23		Unjust Enrichment
24		SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION Conversion
25 26		SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
20		Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing
28		EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION Fraud by Concealment

		Case 3:17-cv-04995	Document 1	Filed 08/28/17	Page 3 of 30)
1 2		NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION Negligent Misrepresen				
3		TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION Declaratory Relief				25
4	IX.	REQUEST FOR RELIEF				
5	X.	DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAI	L			
6						
7						
8						
9						
10						
11 12						
12						
13						
15						
16						
17						
18						
19						
20						
21						
22						
23						
24						
25						
26						
27						
28						
	No.		i	ii	(COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Victor Muniz brings this lawsuit on behalf himself and a proposed nationwide class of similarly situated people who financed their homes through Wells Fargo & Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, collectively referred to in this Complaint as Wells Fargo, the Bank, or Defendants. Plaintiff, though his Counsel, alleges the following based on publicly available information, investigation of Counsel, and information and belief.

I. INTRODUCTION

Victor Muniz, a security dispatcher at a Las Vegas casino, recently bought his first home.
 Like many Americans, before buying the home he sought a mortgage from Wells Fargo, the nation's largest home lender. Also like many Americans, Mr. Muniz fell victim to Wells Fargo's systematic effort to charge mortgage borrowers unwarranted fees to complete the loan process.

2. When Mr. Muniz began the financing process, Wells Fargo agreed to "lock" the offered mortgage interest rate for his potential loan during the closing process. When that process was delayed—not due to Mr. Muniz—Wells Fargo charged Mr. Muniz a fee to continue to lock the offered interest rate, despite assurances that it would not.

3. On information and belief, what happened to Mr. Muniz is part of a systematic effort at Wells Fargo to charge home loan and refinance borrowers fees to extend their mortgage interest rate lock periods when the need for that extension was caused by the Bank, not the borrower.

4. According to a whistleblower letter from a former Wells Fargo employee to lawmakers, the practice has resulted in Wells Fargo charging customers in the Los Angeles area alone millions of dollars in unwarranted mortgage interest rate lock extension fees. As one former Wells Fargo branch officer explained to *ProPublica*, the practice is "just stealing from people."

5. Subsequent reporting by independent parties and investigation of Plaintiff's Counsel suggest the practice is not limited to California. The pattern of wrongfully charging customers the rate lock extension fees has reportedly resulted in Wells Fargo hiring a law firm to conduct an internal

review, the dismissal of several senior Wells Fargo mortgage executives, and a probe by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau.

6. To right this wrong, recover the fees unlawfully charged by Wells Fargo, and hold Wells Fargo accountable for yet another abuse of customer trust, Mr. Muniz brings this class action Complaint on behalf of himself and all similarly situated Wells Fargo borrowers nationwide.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 based on the federal statutory claims below, and the Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff's state law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

8. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because at least one Class member is of diverse citizenship from one defendant, there are 100 or more Class members nationwide, and the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds \$5,000,000.

9. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(3) because the Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants, a substantial portion of the alleged wrongdoing occurred in this District and California, and Defendants have sufficient contacts with this District and California.

10. Venue is proper in the Northern District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims at issue in this Complaint arose in this District.

III. INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

11. This case is properly brought in the San Francisco Division of the Northern District of California. Pursuant to Local Rule 3-2(c), cases are to be filed in the Division "in which a substantial part of the events or omissions which give rise to the claim occurred." Defendant Wells Fargo &

Company has its principal place of business in San Francisco at 420 Montgomery Street, less than two miles from this Court.

12. As Plaintiff alleges that Defendants have engaged in illegal activity related to Plaintiff's mortgage, and that such illegal activity is allegedly pursuant to a systematic nationwide practice, a substantial part of the events or omissions about which complaint took place at Defendants' offices in San Francisco. Thus, pursuant to Local Rule 3-2(d), the proper venue for this case is the San Francisco Division of the Northern District of California.

IV. PARTIES

13. Plaintiff Victor Muniz is a resident and citizen of Clark County, Nevada.

14. Defendant Wells Fargo & Company is incorporated in Delaware with its principal place of business in San Francisco, California. Wells Fargo & Company is a financial services company with \$1.9 trillion in assets and approximately 271,000 employees. It provides banking, insurance, investments, mortgage, and consumer and commercial finance through more than 8,500 locations, 13,000 ATMs, the internet and mobile banking, and has offices in 42 countries and territories.

15. Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. is a national banking association chartered under the laws of the United States with its primary place of business in Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. provides Wells Fargo & Company personal and commercial banking services, and is Wells Fargo & Company's principal subsidiary. Well Fargo Bank, N.A. is also the successor by merger to Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, Inc.

16. Defendant Wells Fargo Home Mortgage is a division of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and has its primary place of business in Des Moines, Iowa.

V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

17. Wells Fargo is the nation's largest residential mortgage provider. According to the Bank's most recent Annual Report, Wells Fargo's net gain on mortgage loan origination/sales activities

3

No.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

was \$4.3 billion in 2016, up from \$4.1 billion in 2015. Total mortgage loan originations for 2016 were \$249 billion, according to the same report.

18. Wells Fargo's billions of dollars in mortgage origination profits appear to have been built in part on a systematic effort to wrongly charge borrowers like Plaintiff fees to borrow money at their promised mortgage interest rate.

A. Wells Fargo's Mortgage Rate Lock Fees

19. When a customer approaches Wells Fargo to get a home mortgage or refinance, the Bank typically commits to fund the customer's loan at a stated interest rate *if* the home purchase and loan close within a given period of time, usually 30 to 90 days. That commitment is the interest "rate lock," and the 30 or 90 days is the "rate-lock period."

20. If missing paperwork or other delays prevent the closing of a loan in the rate-lock period, the period can be extended—at a cost to Wells Fargo's customers. If the delay is the borrower's fault, the borrower pays a fee, the amount of which is based on the size of the loan. But if the delay is caused by the Bank's actions, the Bank is supposed to absorb the cost of extending the rate-lock period.

21. Those "Rate Lock Extension Fees" can be significant. The fees are reportedly set at between .125 percent and .25 percent of the loan amount, depending on the type of loan. So, for example, for a loan of \$500,000, the Bank would charge a Rate Lock Extension Fee of \$1,250.

22. According to reports, in the large majority of cases, closing delays are caused by the Bank. For example, Wells Fargo may not timely secure an appraisal due to a shortage of appraisers, the Bank may be staffed by underqualified underwriters, or lacks adequate staff (or adequately trained staff) to handle the volume of loan applications.

23. Despite those Bank-caused delays, Wells Fargo managers pressure employees to blame customers for the delays so that the Bank can charge rate-lock extension fees. Wells Fargo also made it difficult to not assign borrowers the fee. For example, while Bank-paid rate-lock extension fees appear

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 8 of 30

to have required the approval of a regional manager, determinations of borrower-caused delays did not. Moreover, if mortgage consultants accumulated too many borrower-charged extension fees in their files, they were reportedly subject to reprimand.

24. Predictably, perpetrating this scheme caused extreme stress to Wells Fargo employees, whose job it was to explain to frustrated customers why they were being charged a fee through no fault of their own. Employee stress caused by pressure to perform unscrupulous practices was also a hallmark of Wells Fargo's sham account scandal, and more generally is an indicator of corporate malfeasance.

25. Many current and former Bank employees have spoken out. A person identifying himself as Jeffrey Clark, a former Wells Fargo manager in Los Angeles, commented on a *ProPublica* story that employees "were forced to push the rate lock extension to borrowers, when all along it was the processing delays in Underwriting" that caused the rate lock to expire. "I would say 99% of the time our requests denied by my Area/Regional management and were labeled as a borrower delay and therefore a charge for the extension was charge[d] to the borrower." If the borrower didn't agree to pay the fee, "we just cancelled the loan."

26. In a detailed letter to lawmakers attached to this Complaint as Exhibit A and incorporated by reference, former Wells Fargo employee Frank Chavez described the practice of passing on "the cost of Interest Rate Lock Extensions . . . which Wells Fargo should have paid out of its own pocket":

RE: IMPROPER/FRAUDULENT CHARGING of INTEREST RATE LOCK EXTENSION FEES to BORROWERS by WELLS FARGO HOME MORTGAGE

Dear Representatives and Senators,

This is to inform members of Congress and others regarding a systematic effort on the part of area and regional management of Wells Fargo Home Mortgage in at least the Greater Los Angeles area to pass on the cost of Interest Rate Lock Extensions on pending conventional and jumbo mortgage loan applications which Wells Fargo should have paid out of its own pocket rather than the bank's borrowers/customers over a period of approximately two years.

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 9 of 30

27. In his letter to lawmakers, Mr. Chavez wrote that even though the practice is "more complicated and less intuitive than the Fraudulent Account Opening Scandal of earlier this year, I believe the damage done to Wells Fargo mortgage customers in this case is much, much more egregious." That damage, Mr. Chavez wrote, stemmed from a "systematic effort to wrongly offload" the costs of interest rate lock extensions onto borrowers.

28. Mr. Chavez's letter described some of the "most blatant" methods of assigning blame and costs—to borrowers:

- In a practice known as an AIRL, Wells Fargo had the underwriter stop the Equal Credit Opportunity Act Regulation B "clock" and note the file as missing customer documentation or information, even though it had already been provided and was available for review.
 - Noting delays caused by the banker or home mortgage consultant as "customercaused" or "customer-related" delays.
- 29. Mr. Chavez explained that Wells Fargo's own records would provide a paper trail of the

alleged scheme:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

These three methods of systematically and wrongly shifting the blame for delays onto the customer can be evidenced by internal emails between: frontline HMC's or PMB mortgage bankers; the Los Angeles PMB Area Manager, Ken Vils; Regional WFHM Manager, Tom Swanson; Regional Processing Manager, Heidi Schlagel; and various branch managers throughout the Los Angeles area. PMB Bankers were instructed to send specifically structured/worded emails to one or more of the above managers (depending on the situation) requesting approval for needed Interest Rate Lock Extensions.

30. More recently another former Los Angeles Wells Fargo employee, Mauricio Alaniz, alleged in an employee whistleblower lawsuit against Wells Fargo that Wells Fargo falsified records to "state that she had contacted customers and requested documentation when in fact she had not done so." When the rate lock period for those customers' expired, Wells Fargo allegedly told Ms. Alaniz that the

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 10 of 30

customers would be charged for the rate lock extension, even though she "had already reported that the delays were not the customers' fault and that [Wells Fargo's] loan processor had falsified records to appear otherwise."

31. While Mr. Chavez's letter and Ms. Alaniz's allegations reveal the practices they witnessed in the Los Angeles area—practices Mr. Chavez described as Wells Fargo's "concerted effort to wrongly pass the cost on to the consumer/borrower for costs the bank should have paid"— those practices do not appear to be limited to Los Angeles or California.

B. Wells Fargo's Widespread Practice of Wrongly Charging Fees to Borrowers

32. Wells Fargo's rate lock practices have reportedly already led to dismissals of the head of Wells Fargo's home mortgage sales who oversaw thousands of loan officers, a Pacific division manager, and the regional sales manager for Oregon and Nevada. Investigation by Counsel and publicly available information suggest the practice is widespread.

33. One person identifying themselves as a former Wells Fargo employee posted online that "This was not just in LA it was in [New Jersey] as well. Time after time borrowers were charged the extension fee when it was not their fault but the bank's due to understaffed processing and underwriting!"

34. Two former loan offices and one former Wells Fargo branch manager from Oregon reportedly told *ProPublica* that "they were instructed to charge customers for mortgage lock extensions even when the bank was responsible."

35. The practice has also been the subject of consumer complaints from around the nation to federal agencies. For example, a 2013 complaint filed with the Office of Comptroller of Currency by a borrower in Iowa explained that after Bank-caused delays, a borrower was "informed I need to pay close to \$500 more at closing time to extend my rate. . . I don't feel I should be penalized by additional closing costs when I did not cause any delay."

No.

COMPLAINT

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 11 of 30

36. Another complaint filed with the OCC states, "I would like Wells Fargo's use of ratelock extension fees to be investigated as I believe I can[]not be the only consumer this has happened to."

37. A 2016 complaint to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation from 2016 tells a similar story: After numerous delays, Wells Fargo informed a borrower that if they want to continue the financing "process they 'require' a fee of \$250.00 for a rate lock because of all the delays. I feel that they have delayed our loan in order to make us pay additional money and this is unjust."

38. Other customers have posted similar complaints online:

- "[T]he Wells Fargo loan consultant force me to pay my extension fee which was a substantial amount of money (over \$3,000!). The delays were caused by the bank and I didn't want to lose the low rate I had locked."
- "The loan officer at Wells Fargo forced us to pay a rate lock extension on our condo refinance, when the delay was the bank's fault. . . . Unfortunately, we had no choice since we were changing our loan program and we were more than 60 days in the process with a good rate at the time."
 - "Yes, this happened to me as well with Wells...They had all my paperwork for about 3 months and delayed it intentionally."
 - "We ended up paying a rate lock extension of \$4,500 purely because our rate was great and the cost of not getting that rate was far worse."
 - "My rate lock expired on August 13 and [I] was told that I had to extend the rate.
 ... All sorts of excuses are given. ... This is a nightmare that I am going through with them."

39. In short, Plaintiff's experience—described in more detail below—appears to be part of a widespread, "systematic" effort to foist unwarranted fees onto Wells Fargo borrowers.

No.

40. Wells Fargo was or should have been aware of this widespread practice. Attached to Mr. Chavez's letter to lawmakers is 2015 correspondence to Mike Heid, former President of Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, and other senior Wells Fargo executives from a dissatisfied borrower describing his experience with a rate lock extension fee.

41. Though Wells Fargo knew or should have known about these practices, it failed to act to stop them. As a result, since Mr. Chavez sent his letter, Wells Fargo's rate lock extension fee practice has become the subject of a federal investigation by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, as Wells Fargo has acknowledged. Also as a result, Wells Fargo recently wrongly charged Plaintiff for a rate lock extension fee after the Bank caused a delay in the processing of his loan application.

C. P

Plaintiff Muniz's Experience

42. For years, Mr. Muniz has been looking for the perfect first house. In June, he found it: a home in Sandy Valley, Nevada, close to where his parents live, that he could afford.

43. To buy the house, he went to Wells Fargo to get a home loan secured by a mortgage. On
June 29, 2017, Wells Fargo issued Mr. Muniz a loan estimate that included a quoted interest rate of
5.875% on a 30-year fixed mortgage. That estimate included a "rate lock" that would expire by August
7.

44. Mr. Muniz diligently provided Wells Fargo all the information the Bank requested to process the financing, but the process was bogged down by Bank-caused delays. For example, communication issues between the Bank and the appraiser it hired, who was apparently out of the country, slowed the required appraisal.

45. On August 7, the date the rate lock was set to expire, a Bank employee texted to say Mr. Muniz would not have to pay the fee to extend the rate lock:

No.

And just confirmed that the lender is paying for the lock extension so you guys are good on that.

46. Despite that assurance, the next day the Bank issued an updated closing disclosure that included under "Loan Costs" a \$287.50 fee for "Borrower Paid Rate Lock Extension." Mr. Muniz was told a Regional Manager had reversed the decision that Mr. Muniz should not pay the fee.

That's good news,

Delivered

thank you

47. At that point, Mr. Muniz had no choice but to accept the fee to timely complete the closing, or he risked losing the house. He had already invested hundreds of dollars in closing-related costs such as the home inspection. On August 16, he closed on his new home. His closing documents included the borrower-paid rate lock extension fee:

Other Loan Charges	
Processing Fee	1,095.00
Rate Lock Extension	287.50

48. Mr. Muniz has sent an email to several Wells Fargo employees, explaining that he was being charged a fee to extend his interest rate lock when the delay in closure was the Bank's fault, not his own. But Wells Fargo has not paid the fee.

49. Mr. Muniz has therefore suffered concrete, particularized injury caused by Wells Fargo's actions, which this lawsuit can redress.

No.

VI. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

50. This matter is brought by Plaintiff on behalf of himself and those similarly situated, under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2) and 23(b)(3). The Class that Plaintiff seeks to represent is defined as follows:

All persons who obtained a Wells Fargo mortgage, including a refinance, for a residential property and were charged one or more fees to extend a mortgage interest rate lock period ("Rate Lock Extension Fees") based on Wells Fargo's practice of delaying loan approval and charging customers Rate Lock Extension Fees.

51. Excluded from the Class are Wells Fargo's officers, directors and employees; and the judicial officers and associated court staff assigned to this case, and the immediate family members of such officers and staff.

52. **Numerosity**: The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members would be impractical. The proposed Class likely contains thousands of members. Wells Fargo is the nation's largest home lender, controlling a roughly 12 percent market share in 2016. The precise numbers of members can be ascertained through discovery, which will include Defendants' underwriting and other records.

53. **Commonality and Predominance**: Common questions of law and fact predominate over any questions affecting only individual members of the Class.

54. For Plaintiff and the Class, the common legal and factual questions include, but are not limited to the following:

• What was the scope of the "systematic effort to wrongly offload the cost of" interest rate lock extensions described in Mr. Chavez's letter;

No.

• What policies or procedures were in place to enact the systematic effort to charge borrowers rate lock extension fees;

• Whether Wells Fargo has engaged in unfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices with the sale of its financial products;

• Whether Wells Fargo violated the federal statutes enumerated in the causes of action below;

• Whether Wells Fargo has been unjustly enriched or is liable for conversion;

• Whether Wells Fargo breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing;

• Whether Wells Fargo negligently represented to Wells Fargo borrowers the nature of rate-lock fees;

• Whether, because of Wells Fargo's conduct, Plaintiff and the Class have suffered damages; and if so, the appropriate amount thereof; and

• Whether, because of Wells Fargo's misconduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to equitable and declaratory relief, and, if so, the nature of such relief.

55. **Typicality**: The representative Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class. Plaintiff and all the members of the Class have been injured by the same wrongful practices of Wells Fargo. Plaintiff's claims arise from the same practices and course of conduct that give rise to the claims of the members of the Class and are based on the same legal theories.

56. Adequacy: Plaintiff is a representative who will fully and adequately assert and protect the interests of the Class, and has retained class counsel who are experienced and qualified in prosecuting class actions. Neither Plaintiff nor his attorneys have any interests contrary to or in conflict with the Class.

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 16 of 30

57. **Superiority**: A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this lawsuit, because individual litigation of the claims of all members of the Class is economically unfeasible and procedurally impracticable. While the aggregate damages sustained by the Class are likely in the millions of dollars, the individual damages incurred by each Class member are too small to warrant the expense of individual suits. The likelihood of individual Class members prosecuting their own separate claims is remote, and even if every member of the Class could afford individual litigation, the court system would be unduly burdened by individual litigation of such cases.

58. Further, individual members of the Class do not have a significant interest in individually controlling the prosecution of separate actions, and individualized litigation would also result in varying, inconsistent, or contradictory judgments and would magnify the delay and expense to all of the parties and the court system because of multiple trials of the same factual and legal issues. Plaintiff knows of no difficulty to be encountered in the management of this action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action. In addition, Wells Fargo has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class and, as such, final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with regard to the members of the Class as a whole is appropriate.

59. Wells Fargo has, or has access to, address and/or other contact information for the members of the Class, which may be used to provide notice of the pendency of this action.

VII. TOLLING OF ANY APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATION

60. Plaintiff and Class members did not discover, and could not have discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence, that Wells Fargo had a secret, systematic effort to charge borrowers wrongful fees to extend mortgage interest rate lock periods. Any statutes of limitation otherwise applicable to any claims asserted herein have thus been tolled by the discovery rule.

No.

COMPLAINT

61. All applicable statutes of limitation have also been tolled by Wells Fargo's knowing, active, and ongoing fraudulent concealment of the facts alleged herein. Wells Fargo has reportedly known about the practice of wrongfully charging rate lock fees to borrowers, but has not publicly acknowledged the problem. Any otherwise applicable statutes of limitation have therefore been tolled by the Bank's exclusive knowledge and concealment of the facts alleged herein.

62. Defendants were, and are, under a continuous duty to disclose to Plaintiff and Class members the true cost of financing at Wells Fargo, including the likelihood that the Bank's delays would result in the borrower being charged a fee to extend their mortgage interest rate lock period. Wells Fargo did not make that disclosure, and Plaintiff and Class members reasonably relied upon the Bank's active concealment of these facts that rendered their statements misleading. Based on the foregoing, Wells Fargo is estopped from relying on any statutes of limitation in defense of this action

VIII. CAUSES OF ACTION

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2601, *et seq.* Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

63. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

64. The Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act ("RESPA") prohibits accepting "unearned fees" including "any portion, split, or percentage of any charge made or received for the rendering of a real estate settlement service in connection with a transaction involving a federally related mortgage loan other than for services actually performed." 12 U.S.C. § 2607(b).

65. In providing mortgages to Plaintiff and the Class, Wells Fargo rendered real estate settlement services—as that term is defined in RESPA, at 12 C.F.R. § 1024.2(b), and by courts—in connection with a transaction involving a federally-related mortgage loan.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 18 of 30

66. Wells Fargo violated RESPA by accepting and splitting an unearned settlement service fee—*i.e.*, a required fee to extend the period to lock-in the offered mortgage interest rates of Plaintiff and the Class—between different entities. The fee was not charged for a service actually performed because it was paid for no reason: Because Wells Fargo delayed the closing process for Plaintiff and the Class, Wells Fargo should have charged nothing to extend their rate locks.

67. On information and belief, that unearned fee was split or shared among Wells Fargo entities. Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, a division of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., provides the Bank's retail mortgage lending services, obtaining fees from borrowers in the process. On information and belief, Wells Fargo Home Mortgage and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. then share those unearned fees with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.'s parent company, Wells Fargo & Company, a separate entity that considers mortgage origination as part of its revenue and represents to the public that it provides mortgage services and is "the leading U.S. home lender."

68. That fee was not bona fide compensation for services actually performed because Wells Fargo's own actions necessitated extending the rate-lock periods.

69. As a result, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to damages of three times the amount of the extension rate locks fees, attorney fees, and costs. 12 U.S.C. § 2607(d).

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601, *et seq.* Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

70. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

71. Congress passed the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA") to ensure consumer borrowers understood the true cost of consumer credit.

72. As one way to accomplish that goal, TILA requires creditors to clearly and conspicuously disclose to borrowers the accurate and full terms of the legal relationship between creditors and consumer borrowers, like Plaintiff and Class Members.

73. TILA requires that creditors providing residential mortgages provide, among others things, disclosure of finance charges, fees, and a good faith estimate of the costs of closing a residential mortgage loan. 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a).

74. Wells Fargo is a creditor under TILA. 15 U.S.C. § 1602(g).

75. Wells Fargo violated TILA by failing to in good faith disclose to borrowers who obtained mortgage interest rate locks that Wells Fargo had a system under which it would charge borrowers finance charges/fees to extend the rate lock period in cases of bank-caused delay, increasing financing and/or closing costs in a way borrowers could not predict.

76. Plaintiff and the Class have been injured and have suffered monetary losses because of Wells Fargo's violations of TILA.

77. Plaintiff and the Class are therefore entitled to recover actual and/or statutory damages and attorneys' fees and costs from Wells Fargo, as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION Unlawful, Unfair, or Fraudulent Business Practices under the California Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

78. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

79. California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), Business and Professions Code § 17200, prohibits any "unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business act or practices." Wells Fargo engaged in unlawful, fraudulent, and unfair business acts and practices in violation of the UCL by knowingly and intentionally concealing from Plaintiffs and other Class members that Wells Fargo had systematic scheme to wrongfully charge residential borrowers rate-lock fees; and by violating both federal and No. 16 COMPLAINT California laws, including RESPA, TILA, and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's Regulation N, by failing to disclose the rate lock fee scheme in its advertising of rate lock services.

80. Wells Fargo tells borrowers that they "can count on Wells Fargo, the nation's #1 home lender." And Wells Fargo's unlawful, fraudulent, and unfair business acts were done with the intention of convincing buyers to finance their residential loans with Wells Fargo.

81. Wells Fargo's systematic scheme to charge fees to borrows, and concealment thereof, were material to Plaintiff and the Class. Had they known the truth about that scheme, Plaintiff and the Class would not have taken steps to prevent being charged Rate Lock Extension Fees that should not have been assessed against them, including, but not limited to seeking financing elsewhere. And Defendants misrepresented, concealed, or failed to disclose the truth with the intention that consumers would rely on the misrepresentations, concealments, and omissions.

82. On information and belief, Wells Fargo's systematic scheme to charge fault-less borrowers mortgage interest rate lock fees emanated from its California headquarters, and has resulted in the dismissal of several California-based executives. For example, Wells Fargo reportedly dismissed Drew Collins, the manager of the Pacific division, who appears to have been based in California, in part due to some of the issues Wells Fargo found as part of its internal review of the practice.

83. Plaintiff and Class members suffered ascertainable loss and actual damages as a direct and proximate result of Defendants' misrepresentations and their concealment of and failure to disclose material information. Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, Plaintiff and the Class seek an order enjoining Defendants' unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices, any such orders or judgments as may be necessary to restore to Plaintiff and Class members any money acquired by unfair competition, including restitution and/or restitutionary disgorgement, as provided in Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17203 and 3345, and any other just and proper relief available under the California UCL.

No.

COMPLAINT

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION Violations of Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903, *et seq.* Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

84. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

85. The Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act ("Nevada DTPA"), Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903, et seq. prohibits deceptive trade practices in the sale of goods or services.

86. In the course of its business, Wells Fargo, through their agents, employees, and/or subsidiaries, violated the Nevada DTPA as detailed in this Complaint. In offering the good or service of mortgage interest rate locks to its customers, Wells Fargo engaged in the unfair or deceptive acts or practices, as defined in Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 598.0915 to 598.0925, by failing to disclose the Bank's practice of requiring borrowers to pay mortgage rate lock fees when Wells Fargo's delays caused the rate lock to expire. That misled consumers.

87. Specifically, Wells Fargo's misrepresentations and omissions regarding the good or service of mortgage interest rate locks involved knowing false representations in a transaction; "bait-and-switch" advertising; statements that services were needed when none were; failing to disclose a material fact; knowingly misrepresenting the legal rights, obligations, or remedies of Plaintiff and the Call; and acts or practices in violation of the state or federal laws discussed in this Complaint.

88. Defendants' scheme and concealment of that scheme was material to Plaintiff and the Class, as Defendants intended, because mortgage interest rate locks are typically offered as an enticement to initiate the financing process with Wells Fargo. Had they known the truth, Plaintiff and Class members could have taken steps to avoid being charged unwarranted Rate Lock Extension Fees by Wells Fargo, including, but not limited to obtaining financing elsewhere. Plaintiff and Class members were therefore the victims of Wells Fargo's consumer fraud.

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 22 of 30

89. Plaintiff and Class members had no way of discerning that Defendants' representations were false and misleading, or otherwise learning the facts that Defendants had concealed or failed to disclose, because Wells Fargo did not reveal its systematic effort to charge borrowers mortgage rate lock fees. Plaintiff and Class members did not, and could not, unravel Defendants' deception on their own.

90. Wells Fargo had an ongoing duty to Plaintiff and the Class to refrain from unfair and deceptive practices under the Nevada DTPA in the course of their business. Specifically, Wells Fargo owed Plaintiff and Class members a duty to disclose all likely costs of financing, and Wells Fargo intentionally concealed those costs, and/or they made misrepresentations that were rendered misleading because they were contradicted by withheld facts.

91. Wells Fargo's deceptive conduct was not done incompliance with any locate, state, or federal orders or laws.

92. Plaintiff and Class members suffered ascertainable loss and actual damages as a direct and proximate result of Defendants' concealment, misrepresentations, and/or failure to disclose material information.

93. Defendants' violations present a continuing risk to Plaintiff and the Class, as well as to the general public. Defendants' unlawful acts and practices complained of herein affect the public interest.

94. Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 41.600 and 598.0977, Plaintiff and the Class seek an order enjoining Defendants' unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices, and awarding damages, punitive damages, and any other just and proper relief available under the Nevada DTPA

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION Unjust Enrichment Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

95. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 23 of 30

96. Because of Defendants' systematic unlawful and deceptive actions described above,Defendants were enriched at the expense of Plaintiff and the Class through the payment of fees wrongly charged to extend mortgage interest rate locks.

97. Under the circumstances, it would be against equity and good conscience to permit Defendants to retain the ill-gotten benefits that they received from Plaintiff and the Class, because Wells Fargo used illegal, deceptive, and/or unfair practices to wrongfully charge mortgage rate lock fees and did not disclose the practice.

98. Thus, it would be unjust and inequitable for Defendants to retain the benefit without restitution to Plaintiff and the Class for the monies paid to Defendants because of the unfair, deceptive, and/or illegal practices.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION Conversion Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

99. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

100. Plaintiff and Class members own and had the right to possess the money that Defendants demanded to extend the interest rate lock period.

101. Defendants, without the right to do so, interfered with Plaintiff's and Class members' possession of this money by wrongfully charging fees to extend mortgage interest rate lock periods, when delays in closing were the Bank's—not the borrower's—fault.

102. Any consent Defendants obtained from Plaintiff and the Class to obtain that money was secured by fraud and/or mistake, namely the concealment by Defendants from Plaintiff and the Class of the systematic effort to wrongfully charge interest rate lock fees to borrowers. Plaintiff and Class members also were coerced to pay the fees under duress because if they did not, they risked paying higher interest rates or losing the right to purchase their homes.

1

2

3

No.

103. Defendants' wrongful taking of fees damaged Plaintiff and Class members in an amount that is capable of identification through Defendants' records.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

104. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

105. To secure a home mortgage, Plaintiff and the Class entered into contracts with Wells Fargo, under which contracts Plaintiff and Class members performed all material requirements.

106. Those contracts, like all contracts, contained an implied covenant and duty on the parties to act in good faith and deal fairly with one another.

107. In charging Plaintiff and the Class a fee to extend their mortgage interest rate lock period as part of a systematic effort to impose such fees on faultless borrowers, Wells Fargo breached that implied covenant and duty, acting contrary to the spirit and intention of its contract with borrowers.

108. Wells Fargo—not borrowers—knew of Wells Fargo's policy to charge fees to faultless borrowers, and used that to its advantage. Wells Fargo also acted in bad faith and did not deal fairly by imposing the fees on borrowers who were forced to pay the fees or risked foregoing a home purchase or paying more to finance, as Wells Fargo knew.

109. Because of Wells Fargo's breach, Plaintiff and the Class have been harmed, including by foregoing the right to finance at the locked-in rate without having to pay an additional fee, and are entitled to all available damages.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION Fraud by Concealment Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

110. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

No.

111. Wells Fargo deceived Plaintiff and Class members while providing consumer credit for the purchase or refinance of residential properties.

112. While Wells Fargo disclosed some facts to Plaintiff and Class members, including the fact that their mortgage interest rate lock could expire, Wells Fargo intentionally failed to disclose a related material fact: That if Wells Fargo caused the expiration of the rate lock, it had a scheme to systematically charge borrowers the fee to extend that rate lock period. That intentional failure to disclose a material fact rendered Wells Fargo's partial disclosures deceptive.

113. Wells Fargo also was under common law and statutory duties as an FDIC-insured provider of residential mortgage loans and servicing to disclose the true cost of borrowing to Plaintiff and the Class.

114. Plaintiff and Class Members did not know, and could not have known, that the nation's largest residential mortgage lender systematically, wrongfully charged its borrowers for mortgage interest rate lock fees. Wells Fargo did not provide that information, and has not provided that information after laying off several senior executives, hiring a law firm to conduct an internal review, and acknowledging an inquiry of the practice by a federal agency.

115. For, example, Wells Fargo Home Mortgage's website discusses rate lock fees, but does not discuss that Bank-caused delays may result in borrowers paying such fees at the end of the rate lock period:

No.

COMPLAINT

	Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 26 of 30
1	What is a rate lock?
2	 A rate lock gives you protection from financial market fluctuations that could affect your interest rate range.
3	 You can choose to lock or not lock your interest rate range. On the date and time you lock, that interest rate range remains available to you for a set period of time.
4	 If there are no subsequent changes to your loan and your interest rate range is locked, the interest rate range on your application generally remains the same.
5	 If there are changes to your loan, your final interest rate at closing may be different.
6	 What is the difference between "locking" and floating"? Locking ensures that your loan pricing will be unaffected during the lock-in period by giving you a
	 specified period of protection from financial market fluctuations in interest rates. Locking sets the range of pricing available to you; it doesn't guarantee that a specific rate will apply.
7	 Your final rate, which may not be determined until closing, will reflect the pricing that was available at the time you locked.
8	 Floating – or not locking – means your rate will fluctuate with the up and down movements of the market.
9	 The benefit to floating is if interest rates were to decrease, you would have the option of locking in at a lower level of rates.
10	When can I lock and how much does it cost?
11	The fee for locking varies.
12	 You can lock anytime you locate a property, or start your refinancing process, up until ten business days before the closing.
13	 You can select a specific length of time for your lock, usually 60 days.
14	
15	116. By not providing borrowers information about the systematic, wrongful charging of rate
16	lock extension fees, Wells Fargo intended to deceive borrowers, so that they would rely on Wells Fargo
17	for financing, and so Wells Fargo could remain the nation's largest home lender.
18	117. Plaintiff and Class members reasonably relied on Wells Fargo's statements. The Bank
19	
20	holds itself out as the nation's largest residential lender, and Plaintiff and Class members could assume
21	that the nation's largest lender would be able to complete the financing process in the given rate-lock
22	period, and would not charge borrowers fees when the Bank could not.
23	118. Had Plaintiff and the Class known about the practice, they would not have applied to
24	Wells Fargo for residential financing. No reasonable person would.
25	119. Because of the Bank's deceptive concealment, Plaintiff and the Class were harmed by
26	
27	paying fees that they should not have been required to pay to complete the financing or refinancing of

No.

their home loans. The Bank's system on wrongful fees—and concealment of that system—were substantial factors causing that harm.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION Negligent Misrepresentation Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

120. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

121. Plaintiff and Class Members were harmed when Wells Fargo misrepresented an important fact: That locking their interest rate at the beginning of the financing process provides "protection" to borrowers from market fluctuations.

122. In fact, Wells Fargo knew or should have known that was not true, and that in the event of Bank-caused delays, Wells Fargo would likely charge Plaintiff and Class members a fee to extend their rate lock period and preserve the offered interest rate, making those borrowers subject to market fluctuations unless they agreed to pay the unwarranted fee.

123. Wells Fargo also was under common law and statutory duties as an FDIC-insured provider of residential mortgage loans and servicing to disclose the true cost of borrowing to Plaintiff and the Class.

124. By representing that their interest rate was securely "locked" and they were protected, Wells Fargo intended to induce Plaintiff and the Class to secure their financing or refinancing with Wells Fargo, and Plaintiff's and Class members' reasonable reliance on that representation was a substantial factor in them doing so.

125. Plaintiff and Class members were harmed by Wells Fargo's negligent representation because they were faced with the choice of paying wrongfully-charged fees at the end of their rate lock period or foregoing a home purchase, losing a refinance, and/or paying a higher interest rate.

126. Plaintiff and the Class therefore request all available damages and relief.

No.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION Declaratory Relief Asserted on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class

127. Plaintiff incorporates by reference every prior and subsequent allegation of this Complaint as if fully restated here.

128. The Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a), provides that in "a case of actual controversy within its jurisdiction . . . any court of the United States . . . may declare the rights and other legal relations of any interested party seeking such declaration, whether or not further relief is or could be sought." 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a).

129. As described above, this Court has jurisdiction over this matter, and therefore may declare the rights of Plaintiff and the Class.

130. Plaintiff and the Class therefore seek an order declaring unlawful Wells Fargo's practice of charging faultless borrowers fees to extend their mortgage interest rate lock period, and that Wells Fargo is liable to Plaintiff and the Class for damages caused by that practice.

IX. REQUEST FOR RELIEF

131. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, request judgments against Defendants as follows:

A. For an order certifying the Class and, under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2) and 23(b)(3), and appointing Plaintiff as representative of the Class and appointing the lawyers and law firm representing Plaintiff as counsel for the Class;

B. Declaring Wells Fargo's actions to be unlawful;

C. Injunctive relief, including public injunctive relief permanently enjoining Wells Fargo from performing further unfair and unlawful acts as alleged herein;

D. For all recoverable compensatory, statutory, and other damages sustained by Plaintiff and the Class, including disgorgement, unjust enrichment, and all other relief allowed under applicable law;

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995	Document 1	Filed 08/28/17	Page 29 of 30
--------------------	------------	----------------	---------------

1	E.	Granting Plaintiff and the Class awards of restitution and/or disgorgement of Wells
2	Fargo's profi	ts from its unfair and unlawful practices described above;
3	F.	For costs;
4	G.	For both pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on any amounts awarded;
5 6	H.	For treble damages insofar as they are allowed by applicable laws;
7	I.	For appropriate individual relief as requested above;
8	J.	For payment of attorneys' fees and expert fees as may be allowable under applicable law;
9	and	
10	K.	For such other and further relief, including declaratory relief, as the Court may deem
11	proper.	
12		X. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
13	Plaint	tiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.
14	1 Iunit	in hereby demands a that by jury on an issues so thable.
15		
16 17		
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27 28		
20	No.	26 COMPLAINT
	110.	

Case 3:17-cv-04995	Document 1	Filed 08/28/17	Page 30 of 30
--------------------	------------	----------------	---------------

DATED this 28th day of August, 2017.

KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.

By <u>/s/ Matthew J. Preusch</u> Matthew J. Preusch (Bar No. 298144) 801 Garden Street, Suite 301 Santa Barbara, CA 93101 Tel: (805) 456-1496 Fax: (805) 456-1497 mpreusch@kellerrohrback.com

> Derek Loeser, *pro hac vice forthcoming* Gretchen Freeman Cappio, *pro hac vice forthcoming* **KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.** 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98101-3052 Tel: (206) 623-1900 Fax: (206) 623-3384 dloeser@kellerrohrback.com gcappio@kellerrohrback.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff

No.

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Document 1-1 Filed 08/28/17 Page 1 of 11

Exhibit A

Frank A. Chavez

109 East Ramona Road Alhambra, CA 91801 home: (626) 284-7081 cell: (310) 651-1267 frankachavez00@gmail.com

November 23, 2016

U.S. House Committee on Financial Services Democrats 4340 Thomas P. O'Neill, Jr. Federal Office Building Washington, DC 20515

U.S. Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs 534 Dirksen Senate Office Building Washington, D.C. 20510

RE: IMPROPER/FRAUDULENT CHARGING of INTEREST RATE LOCK EXTENSION FEES to BORROWERS by WELLS FARGO HOME MORTGAGE

Dear Representatives and Senators,

This is to inform members of Congress and others regarding a systematic effort on the part of area and regional management of Wells Fargo Home Mortgage in at least the Greater Los Angeles area to pass on the cost of Interest Rate Lock Extensions on pending conventional and jumbo mortgage loan applications which Wells Fargo should have paid out of its own pocket rather than the bank's borrowers/customers over a period of approximately two years.

We are talking about millions of dollars, in just the Los Angeles area alone, which were wrongly paid by borrowers/customers instead of Wells Fargo. Though the practice I will attempt to outline below is more complicated and less intuitive than the Fraudulent Account Opening Scandal of earlier this year, I believe the damage done to Wells Fargo mortgage customers in this case is much, much more egregious.

My name is Frank Chavez, and I worked at Wells Fargo in various capacities from November 2005 until April 2016. I began as a retail banker in a branch. By September 2011, I was working in the Private Mortgage Banking (PMB) group of Wells Fargo Home Mortgage (WFHM) at its Beverly Hills office. I resigned this last April of 2016.

I will attempt to describe and outline an otherwise slightly confusing subject and timeline in a way that the average American consumer can understand without having sophisticated banking or mortgage lending experience. I will provide the names of some specific managers involved with this systematic effort to wrongly offload the cost of those Interest Rate Lock Extensions onto borrowers and the efforts they made to protect themselves (management) while attempting to lay blame on the lower level sales employees in the event of a future scandal. I will also try to provide additional information that may help to further investigate and document this improper activity (mostly to be found through subpoenas of internal Wells Fargo emails).

The time period related to the improper behavior that I will outline covers approximately the beginning of 2014 through about beginning of 2016. Though the exact process of management's systematic efforts during this period varied, the goal was ultimately to burden the borrowers/customers with the Interest Rate Lock Extension fees that should have otherwise hit the bank's own financial statements.

I have attached a customer complaint letter dated June 29, 2015 (Attachment A) which was sent to the now former head of Wells Fargo Home Lending, Mike Heid, and to then CEO John Stumpf. Coincidentally, Mike Heid's retirement was announced shortly after in August 2015. The attached letter alludes to the interest rate lock extension practice described below on the part of area and and regional management, and demonstrates that then CEO John Stumpf was either aware of a problem or should have been aware of unusual behavior as of June 2015.

A combination of a series of newly implemented financial regulations, WFHM's self imposed process changes and Wells Fargo's "expense reductions" (a.k.a. employee firings) from 2012 through 2015 lead to a gradually increasing standstill and backlog of mortgage loan applications within the underwriting and loan closing process. These mostly self-imposed structural and procedural changes (along with some other internal, non-customer related inefficiencies) caused the mortgage loan application process to go well beyond the interest rate lock periods of 45 or 90 days. Though almost all types of loans were affected (conventional conforming, jumbo, purchase and refinances), the loan applications that were probably most affected were refinance loans both conforming and jumbo.

It became apparent by at least mid-2014 that area management of Wells Fargo's PMB division in Los Angeles was making a concerted effort to find any way possible to lay any & all blame for delays in the mortgage loan application process into the laps of borrowers/customers so that they could rationalize having the customers pay for the Interest Rate Lock Extension fees that would allow the borrowers to keep the interest rates that were locked-in at the beginning of the loan application process. Both the PMB Area Manager in Los Angeles, Kenneth (Ken) Vils, and the Regional WFHM Manager, Tom Swanson, overseeing both the retail home mortgage lending and PMB lending in the Los Angeles region were the primary individuals leading the systematic effort in Los Angeles to shift this specific financial burden onto borrowers/customers.

Of course, there were instances when borrowers would drag their feet in collecting and providing the requested or required financial documentation needed for underwriting and/or loan closing. The vast majority of delays, though, were caused by either by front

line home mortgage consultants (HMC's) or PMB sales team members, underwriting backlogs, loan processing backlogs, other circumstances outside the control of the customer/borrower or some combination thereof.

The three most blatant methods of attempting to transfer blame onto customers for past and expected future delays in the mortgage process were:

(1.) Having the underwriter stop the "Reg B clock" and note the file for "missing" customer documentation or information that had already been provided by the borrower and which was available to the underwriter for review. This is known as an AIRL.

(2.) Having loan processors and loan closers note (aka AIRL) the file for "missing" customer documentation or information that had already been provided by the borrower.

(3.) Rationalizing HMC or PMB banker delays in requesting and/or submitting customer/borrower documents, info or forms as "customer-caused" or "customer-related" delays. This is probably one of the more obvious and egregious of the improper activities, as it treated the HMC or PMB Banker as an extension of the customer rather than as an WFHM or WFHM PMB employee proper.

These three methods of systematically and wrongly shifting the blame for delays onto the customer can be evidenced by internal emails between: frontline HMC's or PMB mortgage bankers; the Los Angeles PMB Area Manager, Ken Vils; Regional WFHM Manager, Tom Swanson; Regional Processing Manager, Heidi Schlagel; and various branch managers throughout the Los Angeles area. PMB Bankers were instructed to send specifically structured/worded emails to one or more of the above managers (depending on the situation) requesting approval for needed Interest Rate Lock Extensions.

Subject lines of emails to and from the individual managers listed above will indicate certain words or phrases that may serve as starting points for possible initial reviews of internal emails related to the matter. Searches through internal emails to and from the above mentioned managers will likely be most fruitful during the periods covering early 2014 through early 2016.

A newly implemented loan origination & processing system called "CORE" (I cannot recall for what the acronym stands), which began to control the mortgage process in a more automated fashion by early 2016, may have reduced the number of Interest Rate Lock Extension requests in general and the frequency of improperly charging borrowers/customers the thousands of dollars per loan that should have otherwise been paid from the Bank's own balance sheet. Nonetheless, those reading this will find that during early 3014 through early 2016, the Bank made a concerted effort to wrongly pass the cost on to the consumer/borrower for costs that the Bank should have paid. This was wrong and known to middle management and executive management. The

attempt by middle management to protect themselves from liability was also apparent by June 2015 (as demonstrated by the attached complaint letter).

To illustrate how this business practice could easily and wrongly burden the Los Angeles County consumer (alone) in the millions of dollars, I will demonstrate a hypothetical Refinance Loan scenario for a conventional conforming mortgage loan which would be typical for a Wells Fargo customer/borrower in Los Angeles County.

EXAMPLE - Conventional-Conforming Refinance Loan: Loan Type: Conventional Refinance Collateral: Single Family Home - Primary Residence Loan Amount: \$417,00 Interest Rate:: 4.000% Interest Rate Lock Period: 90-day

A customer approaches a Wells Fargo employee regarding a mortgage refinance of their primary residence. The customer finds themselves in front of a Private Mortgage Banker (PMB Banker) initiating a refinance mortgage loan application on their primary residence. The PMB banker will more likely than not quote the customer the currently offered mortgage interest rate for the customer's given circumstance. Next, we'll say that the customer agrees to the interest rate and initiates an Interest Rate Lock with the HMC or the PMB Banker. At this point, the quoted interest rate is locked-in and the loan has to close within 90-days in order to avoid the cost of extending the offered and locked-in mortgage interest rate to the customer. If the loan isn't closed and funded by the time the 90 days are over, and the offered interest rate for the customer's given circumstance has increased, then the borrower or the bank will have to pay a percentage of the loan amount in order to extend the promised rate for 15-days to allow the loan process to complete itself as well as provide the promised rate to the borrower.

This is when the HMC or PMB Banker should begin to request, either in writing or verbally, all the required documentation from the borrower that will be needed for underwriting of the home mortgage loan. Again & although there are always individual borrowers who "drag their feet" in providing the required documentation in order for the Bank to in good faith meet the Reg B deadline, my experience has been that the vast majority (an exact %, I do not know) of borrowers provide the required documentation needed to make an underwriting decision within the Ref B deadline of 30 days.

Now, assuming that the customer/borrower has continued to provide everything requested of them. The delays that will begin to manifest are those on the part of the individual HMC or PMB Banker, underwriter(s), processing department and/or 3rd party vendors (escrow, tile, appraisers, insurance agents, etc.). None of these are, for the most part, the fault of the customer/borrower.

We've now arrived at the 90-day mark and, because of one or more reasons, have not met all the mortgage loan milestones required in order to close and fund the loan within the 90-day period of the Interest Rate Lock initiated at the beginning of the loan application. The cost of extending the Interest Rate Lock of 4.000%% for 15 days (in order to let the loan close at the promised interest rate) will be 0.250% of the loan amount. The math follows as such: 0.250% of \$417,000 is \$1,042.50. Now, either the Bank or the Borrower/Customer will have to pay this dollar amount, depending on who caused the delays.

As I stated above, the vast majority of Wells Fargo borrowers/customers provided the necessary documentation within a reasonable amount of time for the Bank to not only in good faith meet the Reg B deadline of 30 days but also meet 90-day Interest Rate Lock deadline.

The Interest Rate Lock Extension must now be requested by the HMC or PMB Banker in an email to any one or more of the managers previously listed. The exact individual to whom the request is sent will depend on when the request was made during the subject two-year period. Generally speaking, though, the vast majority of these email requests for approval of Interest Rate Lock Extensions will have involved Ken Vils (PMB Area Manager) and/or Tom Swanson (Regional WFHM Manager).

There are two (2) aspects to an emailed Interest Rate Lock Extension approval request that would be sent to whomever has been designated as the appropriate manager:

- 1. The first aspect is simply the request and subsequent approval to extend the locked-in rate for another 15-days.
- 2. The second aspect relates to whom (Borrower vs Bank) should or will pay for the 0.250% of the loan amount or \$1,042.50 (in the above scenario). Please note that the cost of an Interest Rate Lock Extension for a Jumbo Loan would be 0.125% of the loan amount.

This is a very critical part of what I am trying to convey to Congress and regulators. In the body of the emailed requests for interest rate lock extension approvals, Ken Vils and Tom Swanson required PMB Bankers to provide a timeline of events such as:

- NSD Date Day 0 of the loan application and Regulation B clock
- · Date the Interest Rate Lock was initiated
- Date Borrower documents were requested (i.e. tax returns, bank statements, letters of explanation, etc.)
- Date Borrower documents were obtained
- · Date which loan application was sent to underwriting
- Date various regulatory and/or internal forms were obtained and submitted to underwriting or processing departments
- Date when a Credit Decision was made (approve, deny, or any AIRL's)
- Explanation for any/all delays by any of the parties (Borrower, Banker, Underwriter, Processor, 3rd party vendors, etc.)

I mention what would be detailed in an email request for an Interest Rate Lock Extension approval because the information would aid investigators in a more precise search of internal emails and evidence how HMC's and PMB Bankers tried to argue (to no avail) on behalf of borrowers/customers to WFHM management in the Los Angeles area. These internal emails will show (along with other emails and loan application records) that many, if not most, delays were caused by bank employees or 3rd party vendors and NOT by the Borrower/Customer.

The attached complaint letter (Attachment A - section titled "Unprofessional Call from *Mr. Joshua Isaac Oleesky*") demonstrates how Tom Swanson enlisted the help of a very loyal Private Mortgage Banking branch manager, Joshua Oleesky, in making telephone calls directly to borrowers/customers who had been, or were going to be, charged the fees for the interest rate lock extensions. Under the organizational structure and protocol of WFHM at that time, there was absolutely no reason for Mr. Oleesky to be the one to directly contact borrowers/customers of HMC's or PMB bankers who did not report directly to him as a branch manager.

These phone calls were an attempt to "document" whether or not HMC's or PMB bankers had informed the loan applicants of the interest rate lock extension fees that were charged to them. These calls by Joshua Oleesky appeared to be an organized and concerted effort specifically on the part of Tom Swanson to protect himself and other managers by laying blame on frontline employees and/or convince the borrowers that they were to blame for the delays that caused the need for any interest rate lock extensions and related fees.

I hope you have taken the time to read through this letter and are able to see, given the market share and number of mortgage loans Wells Fargo Home Mortgage originates in Los Angeles County and the rest of the nation, how this practice of wrongly charging borrowers/customers for these Interest Rate Lock Extension Fees can easily and quickly total into the millions of dollars. I can only speak to my experience with Wells Fargo Home Mortgage in the Los Angeles region. Given the corporate culture nurtured by John Stumpf throughout Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., though, I can't imagine that similar behaviors regarding Interest Rate Lock Extensions Fees did not occur in other regions throughout the nation during the same period.

If you have any questions or concerns, I may be reached by phone or email and would be more than happy to assist in any way possible.

Very respectfully,

Frank Antonio Chavez

ATTACHMENT A

June 29, 2015

Mr. Mike Heid, President Wells Fargo Home Mortgage P.O. Box 10335 Des Moines, IA 50306-0335

Subject: Complaints (2) and Request for Refund

Reference: Refinance Application, Loan No. 0112204136

Dear Mr. Heid:

We are writing to express our disappointment with Wells Fargo Bank in its response to our recent application to refinance the reference loan. Wells Fargo decisions made in underwriting this loan were incorrect and we were offended by a very unprofessional call we received from Mr. Joshua Isaac Oleesky, Assistant Vice President Wells Fargo Home Mortgage. Additionally, we are requesting a refund of the appraisal fee we paid to Wells Fargo at the offset of our application. A summary or the facts follow:

Refinance Loan Application:

- We contacted Mr. Keith Prendergast regarding this refinance on March 03, 2015. We noted our finances and residency situation are complicated but after providing significant preliminary information, Mr. Prendergast said he felt Wells Fargo would be able to do the refinance. We had lower quoted from Kinecta Federal Credit Union and Chase with whom we are private clients but moved forward with Wells Fargo because you hold the existing loan and the past good service provided by Mr. Prendergast.
- 2. Wells Fargo requested volumes of documentation and numerous letters of explanation which we promptly provided upon request. Around the end of May, an underwriting decision was that this was not our principal residence! Mr. Prendergast offered investor financing at a higher rate. We said we would accept the higher rate but Wells Fargo must reduce the loan cost as compensation for the delay, and, in our view, erroneous underwriting decision.
- To briefly explain the complexities of our financial and residency situation, we offer the following:
 - a. We are financially strong with a net worth of over \$6.5(M), substantial liquidity, gross income of over \$250K a year, and FICO scores over 800.
 - b. Our Children live in Las Vegas and Manhattan Beach. Las Vegas (subject of refinance) is our primary residence. We



have lived in this home since 2008, our home has been in Las Vegas since 1999, we have also been Nevada residents since 1999, Nevada is our tax home (see our 1040 on file with WF), and our vehicles and drivers licenses are registered to Manhattan Beach that we share with our daughter, Jennifer, her husband, and their young son (our grandson). They leased out their home and give us the rent from that property.

- c. Because we travel a lot, our daughter, Loretta, her husband, and their young son (our grandson) have lived with us at our Las Vegas home (subject of refinance) since 2009. Loretta and her husband leased out their home and give us the rent from that property. This is an ideal family/financial/security situation. The sharing arrangements for both homes are documented by a signed lease agreements and our Schedules E.
- d. We travel a lot due to business, leisure and family. We use a PO Box address in Manhattan Beach for rent payments and so our eldest daughter can receive our mail when we are away. However, the subject property is our principal residence and where we will retire once we fully retire (been trying to do that since 2007).
- e. Finally, Wells Fargo underwriting's decision is illogical. We do not have any other residences and the subject property is our primary residence (home). It happens that our family members live with us. If they did not pay rent, the underwriting question would have been moot. Because our daughter and her family has chosen to contribute to household expenses, that makes the house an investment property and not our principal residence??? Not well founded logic!
- 4. Although Mr. Prendergast did a superb job of communicating and keeping us informed, explaining additional requirements, and transmitting documents to your underwriting team; we got the feeling Wells Fargo underwriting was not capable of analyzing our admittedly complicated situation and took the easy way out by saying no. Further the amount of time it took to get to this decision is unacceptable.
- As a result of a call from Mr. Oleesky on June 12, 2015, it became obvious refinancing with Wells Fargo had no financial benefit and we advised Mr. Prendergast we would not accept the higher interest rate. We understand the loan application has been closed.

Unprofessional call from Mr. Joshua Isaac Oleesky:

1. On June 12, 20155, Mr. Oleesky called me, advised that he was Mr. Prendergast's manager and asked if Mr. Prendergast had advised me of substantial cost of the extended rate locks. I advised him that Wells Fargo was responsible for the delays that caused the extension of the rate locks and I would not be paying any additional cost. Further, I told him I had advised Mr. Prendergast that we would only be interested in the higher interest rate if Wells Fargo substantially reduced our loan cost (this was done verbally and in 2 emails).

- 2. Mr. Oleesky then started interrogating me on why Wells Fargo was responsible for the delay. I suggested he look at the documentation on file and the correspondence that had transpired. Mr. Oleesky was very condescending verging on rude. He said I seemed like an intelligent person and asked me to put myself in the shoes of the underwriter and tell him what I would decide. I politely asked Mr. Oleesky to send me his contact information and that the conversation was over. He again asked me something to the effect of "is it correct that Mr. Prendergast did not tell you about the cost of the additional rate locks". I told him to look at Wells Fargo's files and bid him a polite good-bye.
- 3. Mr. Oleesky's call was offensive and unprofessional. Basically, he was questioning the integrity of a fellow team member (Mr. Prendergast). In my world it is inappropriate to transmit internal criticisms beyond the team and, especially to a customer. I suggest Mr. Oleesky be coached on teamwork and customer communications and hope no more than that happens.
- Finally, we have nothing but praise for the way Keith dealt with working through the details of our situation.

Request for Refund:

As noted, we believe Wells Fargo took too long to process our application and took the easy way out with an unreasonable underwriting determination on our refinance. This is our principal residence and we do not understand how an underwriter can make a decision to the contrary. Therefore, we request a refund of the appraisal fee we paid in advance of the erroneous underwriting.

Thank you.

cc: Mr. John G. Stumpf, Wells Fargo CEO, John.G.Stumpf@wellsfargo.com Mr. Keith A. Prendergast, <u>keith.a.prendergast@wellsfargo.com</u> Mr. Joshua Isaac Oleesky, joshua.i.oleesky@wellsfargo.com Mr. Mark Merkerdichian, mark.mekerdichian@wellsfargo.com

Case 3:17-cv-04995 Page 1 of 1

The JS-CAND 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved in its original form by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the Clerk of Court to initiate the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS Victor Muniz, individually and on behalf of all others	s	DEFENDANTS Wells Fargo & Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and					
similarly situated		Wells Farg	go Home N	1ortga	ge		
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Clark County, Nevada (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)		County of Residence of First Listed Defendant (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)					
		NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.					
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Matthew J. Preusch, Keller Rohrback L.L.P., 801 G	arden	Attorneys (If	Known)				
St., Ste. 301, Santa Barbara, CA 93101, 805-456-14	196						
II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an "X" in One Box Only)		TIZENSHIP Diversity Cases O		PAL P.	ARTIES (Place an "X" in One Bo and One Box for Defend		aintiff
			PTF	DEF		PTF	DEF
1 U.S. Government Plaintiff 3 Federal Question (U.S. Government Not a Party)	Citize	n of This State	1	1	Incorporated <i>or</i> Principal Place of Business In This State	4	\mathbf{X}^4
2 U.S. Government Defendant ×4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)	Citize	n of Another State	X ²	2	Incorporated <i>and</i> Principal Place of Business In Another State	5	5
(marcare Curzenship of Parites in tiem 11)		n or Subject of a gn Country	3	3	Foreign Nation	6	6

IV. NATURE OF SU	JIT (Place an "X" in One Box (Only)						
CONTRACT	TO	RTS	FORFEITURE/PENALTY	BANKRUPTCY	OTHER STATUTES			
110 Insurance 120 Marine 130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument 150 Recovery of Overpayment Of Veteran's Benefits 151 Medicare Act 152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excludes Veterans) 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability 320 Assault, Libel & Slander 330 Federal Employers' Liability 340 Marine 345 Marine Product Liability 350 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle Product Liability 360 Other Personal Injury 362 Personal Injury -Medical Malpractice	PERSONAL INJURY 365 Personal Injury – Product Liability 367 Health Care/ Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY 370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending 380 Other Personal Property Damage 385 Property Damage Product	 625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC § 881 690 Other LABOR 710 Fair Labor Standards Act 720 Labor/Management Relations 740 Railway Labor Act 751 Family and Medical Leave Act 790 Other Labor Litigation 791 Employee Retirement Income Security Act 	BARKEPTET BARKEPTET 422 Appeal 28 USC § 158 423 Withdrawal 28 USC § 158 423 Withdrawal 28 USC § 157 PROPERTY RIGHTS 820 Copyrights 830 Patent 835 Patent—Abbreviated New Drug Application 840 Trademark SOCIAL SECURITY 861 HIA (1395ff) 862 Black Lung (923) 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g))	 375 False Claims Act 376 Qui Tam (31 USC § 3729(a)) 400 State Reapportionment 410 Antitrust 430 Banks and Banking 450 Commerce 460 Deportation 470 Racketeer Influenced & Corrupt Organizations X 480 Consumer Credit 490 Cable/Sat TV 850 Securities/Commodities/ Exchange 			
160 Stockholders' Suits 190 Other Contract	Mapraeuce	Liability	IMMIGRATION 462 Naturalization	864 SSID Title XVI	890 Other Statutory Actions			
 190 Onler Contract 195 Contract Product Liability 196 Franchise REAL PROPERTY 210 Land Condemnation 220 Foreclosure 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 240 Torts to Land 245 Tort Product Liability 290 All Other Real Property 	CIVIL RIGHTS 440 Other Civil Rights 441 Voting 442 Employment 443 Housing/ Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities- Employment 446 Amer. w/Disabilities-Other 448 Education	PRISONER PETITIONS HABEAS CORPUS 463 Alien Detainee 510 Motions to Vacate Sentence 530 General 535 Death Penalty 535 Death Penalty 540 Mandamus & Other 550 Civil Rights 555 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee- Conditions of Confinement	465 Other Immigration Actions	865 RSI (405(g)) FEDERAL TAX SUITS 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC § 7609	 891 Agricultural Acts 893 Environmental Matters 895 Freedom of Information Act 896 Arbitration 899 Administrative Procedure Act/Review or Appeal of Agency Decision 950 Constitutionality of State Statutes 			
V. ORIGIN (Place an X 1 Original 2 Proceeding	Removed from 3 H	Remanded from 4 Reinsta Appellate Court Reoper			8 Multidistrict sfer Litigation–Direct File			
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity): Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.; Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq. Brief description of cause: Consumer class action re: wrongful mortgage interest rate lock extension fees								
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT: CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION UNDER RULE 23, Fed. R. Civ. P. DEMAND \$ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: JURY DEMAND: CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: JURY DEMAND:								
VIII. RELATED CASS IF ANY (See instru			DOCKET NUMBER					
IX. DIVISIONAL A (Place an "X" in One Box O	SSIGNMENT (Civil L nly) × SAN FRA	ocal Rule 3-2) ANCISCO/OAKLAND	SAN JOSI	E EUREKA	-MCKINLEYVILLE			

JS-CAND 44 (Rev. 06/17)

SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this post: <u>Lawsuit: Wells Fargo Charges Illegal Extension Fees For Bank-Caused Mortgage Delays</u>